
For requests for further information 
Contact: Josie Lloyd 
Tel: 01270 686466 
E-Mail: josie.lloyd@cheshireeast.gov.uk with any apologies 

 
 

Cared For Children and Care Leavers 
Committee 

 

Agenda 
 

Date: Monday, 30th September, 2024 

Time: 4.00 pm 

Venue: Committee Suite 1,2 & 3, Westfields, Middlewich Road, 
Sandbach CW11 1HZ 

 
 

The agenda is divided into 2 parts. Part 1 is taken in the presence of the public and press. 
Part 2 items will be considered in the absence of the public and press for the reasons 
indicated on the agenda and at the foot of each report. 
 
It should be noted that Part 1 items of Cheshire East Council decision making meetings 
are audio recorded and the recordings will be uploaded to the Council’s website 
 
 
PART 1 – MATTERS TO BE CONSIDERED WITH THE PUBLIC AND PRESS PRESENT 
 
1. Apologies for Absence   
 
 To note any apologies for absence from Members. 

 
2. Declarations of Interest   
 
 To provide an opportunity for Members and Officers to declare any disclosable 

pecuniary interests, other registerable interests, and non-registerable interests in any 
item on the agenda. 
 

3. Minutes of Previous Meeting  (Pages 3 - 6) 
 
 To approve as a correct record the minutes of the previous meeting held on 18 June 

2024. 
 
 
 
 

Public Document Pack

mailto:josie.lloyd@cheshireeast.gov.uk


4. Update from the Shadow Committee (Verbal Update)   
 
 To receive a verbal update and presentation on the recent activities of the shadow 

committee, My Voice. 
 

5. Adoption Service Six Monthly Report  (Pages 7 - 38) 
 
 To receive the Adoption Counts mid-year update reflecting quarters 1 and 2 of 2023-

24. 
 

6. Cared for Children and Care Leavers Committee Quarter 1 Scorecard 2024-25  
(Pages 39 - 50) 

 
 To receive the report which sets out the performance for the Cared For Children and 

Care Leavers service for quarter 1 of 2024/25 (1 April 2024 – 30 June 2024).   
 

 
Membership:  Councillors M Beanland, S Bennett-Wake, J Bird, C Bulman (Chair), 
D Clark, E Gilman, G Hayes, S Holland, B Posnett, B Puddicombe and J Saunders (Vice-
Chair) 
 
 



 

OFFICIAL 

CHESHIRE EAST COUNCIL 
 

Minutes of a meeting of the Cared For Children and Care Leavers Committee 
held on Tuesday, 18th June, 2024 in the Committee Suite 1,2 & 3, Westfields, 

Middlewich Road, Sandbach CW11 1HZ 
 

PRESENT 
 
Councillor J Saunders (Vice-Chair) 
 
Councillors M Beanland, S Bennett-Wake, J Bird, E Gilman, G Hayes, 
S Holland, B Posnett and B Puddicombe 

 
1 APPOINTMENT OF CHAIR  

 
RESOLVED: 
 
That Cllr Carol Bulman be appointed as Chair for the 2024-25 municipal year. 
 

2 APPOINTMENT OF VICE-CHAIR  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That Cllr Jos Saunders be appointed as Vice-Chair for the 2024-25 municipal year. 
 

3 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Cllr Carol Bulman and Cllr Dawn Clark. Cllr 
Jos Saunders chaired the meeting in the absence of the Chair. 
 

4 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
There were no declarations of interest.  
 

5 MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING  
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the minutes of the meeting held on 5 December 2023 be agreed as a correct 
record. 
 

6 UPDATE FROM SHADOW COMMITTEE (VERBAL UPDATE)  
 
The committee received a presentation outlining the recent activities of the shadow 
committee, My Voice. This included: 
 

- The children and young people had been supported with sharing their 
experiences with Ofsted and had been part of an Ofsted focus group to speak 
to inspectors. There had been positive comments around social workers and 
also comments shared on experiences that could have been better 

Page 3 Agenda Item 3



 

OFFICIAL 

- There had been activities for the group throughout February, an Easter activity 
day and planning for the Star Celebration Day 

- The group had been involved in developing the ‘Coming into Care’ guide and 
providing feedback 

- Care Leavers had developed a training resource aimed at equipping 
professionals who work with Cared for Children and Care Leavers with the right 
skills to support those facing domestic abuse. Care Leavers used their lived 
experiences to promote messages, influence the training and develop case 
studies 

 
7 OFSTED INSPECTION FINDINGS  

 
The committee received the report on the findings from the Ofsted inspection of local 
authority children’s services (ILACS) conducted in February and March 2024, the 
plans in place to improve services in relation to the findings, and monitoring 
arrangements from Ofsted and the Department for Education.  
 
It was requested that Members have more oversight of the service’s self-evaluation. 
Officers gave assurances that this was being actioned, with a proposal being planned 
to be brought to both this committee and the Children and Families Committee on 
enhancing Member frontline visits to give more insight into practices. 
 
It was felt that the Corporate Parenting Working Group was positive and it was 
requested that all Members across the Council were encouraged to engage with 
corporate parenting and to undertake the training.  
 
It was clarified that this report had also been to the Children and Families Committee, 
which most members of this committee also sit on, and two hours had been spent at 
that meeting thoroughly scrutinising and debating this report in addition to the 
discussion today. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the Cared for Children and Care Leavers Committee: 
 

1. Note the inspection findings, implications for monitoring from Ofsted and the 

DfE, and plans to improve services. 

2. Note that a task and finish workshop for the Cared for Children and Care 

Leavers committee and Children and Families committee will take place on 2 

July 2024 to review and scrutinise the draft improvement plan.  

 
8 CHILDREN IN CARE ANNUAL REPORT 2022-23 (NHS CHESHIRE AND 

MERSEYSIDE)  
 
The committee received the NHS Cheshire and Merseyside System Oversight 
Board/Quality and Performance Committee Children in Care Annual Report 2022-23.  
 
There was a concern about the delay in reporting and this leading to conflicting data 
between this report and the scorecard. 

Page 4



 

OFFICIAL 

 
It was requested that there be more regular representation from health colleagues at 
meetings of this committee going forward. 
 
Dentistry continued to be an area of concern for the committee. Officers advised that 
data on dental checks were forming part of the weekly performance scrutiny to ensure 
that the data was up to date and recorded clearly. This was intended to improve 
Cheshire East’s data accuracy and ensure targeted action. 
 
It was requested that dentistry be picked up as part of the work streams for the 
improvement plan. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the report be noted. 
 
 

9 FOSTERING SERVICE ANNUAL REPORT  
 
The committee received the Fostering Service Annual Report for 2022-23. 
 
There was a request for comparison data with statistical neighbours and the national 
average position. Officers agreed that future reports could include data from north west 
local authorities.  
 
It was noted that the timeliness of reporting needs consideration. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the report be noted.  
 

10 VIRTUAL SCHOOL HEAD TEACHER ANNUAL REPORT 2022/23  
 
The committee received the Virtual School Headteacher Annual Report 2022-23. 
 
The committee noted some of the recent successes of the cared for children and 
young people, including graduating university and securing apprenticeships. The 
committee were keen to ensure that the successes were being celebrated by the 
Council as corporate parents in a timely manner and in a way that would be meaningful 
to each individual. Officers gave assurances that this suggestion would be taken away 
and would also be reflected in the next Virtual School Headteacher report. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the report be noted.  
 

11 REVIEW OF THE TERMS OF REFERENCE  
 
The committee received the report on the review of the committee’s terms of 
reference, as required on an annual basis. 

Page 5



 

OFFICIAL 

 
There was a request for this to reference the newly established working group and 
workstreams that were set up as part of the improvement plan. Officers undertook to 
refresh the terms of reference to reflect this and would bring back to a later meeting of 
the committee. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the report be noted. 
 

12 CARED FOR CHILDREN AND CARE LEAVERS SCORECARD Q3 2023-24  
 
The committee received the quarter 3 scorecard and an update in relation to Cared 
for Children and Care Leavers services following the Ofsted inspection.  
 
Members reiterated that more regular health reporting was required. 
 
Officers undertook to ensure that overall reporting would be more timely going forward 
to ensure meaningful scrutiny. 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the report be noted.  
 
 
 
 

The meeting commenced at 14:00 and concluded at 16:00 
 

Councillor J Saunders 
 

 
 

Page 6



1 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Cheshire East  

Adoption Service – Six Monthly Report 

01.04.2023 – 30.09.2023 

 

  

Page 7 Agenda Item 5



2 
 

1. Introduction and Purpose of the Report 

This report fulfils the obligations in Adoption National Minimum Standards (2011) and 

Adoption Service Statutory Guidance (2011) Adoption and Children Act 2002 to report to the 

“executive side” of the local authority. This has guided the structure and information set out 

in the report below. 

 

It is important to note that data and information within this report is accurate as of 30 

September 2023. Plans for children are dynamic and develop every day and the picture will 

have changed at the point that this report is read. 

 

2. Working with Cheshire East Council 

Since going live in 2017, Adoption Counts has undertaken to discharge Cheshire East’s 

responsibilities as an Adoption Agency. The working relationship between the local 

authority (LA) and the RAA (Regional Adoption Agency) has been fundamental to the 

success so far of the partnership working and has been embedded within established 

processes to maintain good working relationships and communicate as necessary.  

In addition, the Director of Children's Social care sits as a member of the Adoption Counts 

Board. The Head of Service with a link to adoption is a member of the six weekly 

Operations Group meetings which provides an important opportunity for operational issues 

to be raised and shared with equivalent managers from the other partner LAs and with the 

senior managers in the RAA.  

The Operations Manager linked to Cheshire East is in contact with the Head of Service linked 

to adoption to discuss performance over the period and any issues or themes that may be 

arising.  This is very much a two-way dialogue, with Cheshire East ensuring that the RAA is 

fulfilling its responsibilities as well as the RAA being able to offer feedback to the LA about 

any emerging themes or issues in care planning or working together.   

Adoption Counts feeds into Cheshire East’s permanence tracking of their children, from the 

information collated at Adoption Counts tracking meetings when requested. There is always 

the opportunity for Service Managers from Cheshire East to join the tracking meetings.  One 

of the Team Managers within the Cared for Children and Care Leavers service attends the 

monthly Adoption Counts tracking meetings and is an active participant. The tracking 

meetings are an opportunity for scrutiny and performance management following the 

whole cohort of Cheshire East children where there is or may be a plan of adoption. 

The tracking meetings focus upon: 

• Children now adopted to ensure that life story books and later life letters are 

received 

Page 8



3 
 

• Children placed for adoption but not yet adopted to track the progress of 

placements and the timeliness of adoption order applications 

• Children where a family has been identified to ensure that there is no avoidable 

delay in the shortlisting and matching process and through into the planning of 

introductions and placement 

• Children subject to a Placement Order where a family has not yet been identified. 

This cohort is rigorously discussed to ensure that the family finding strategy is being carried 

out effectively and is the forum for escalation of agreements regarding family finding within 

the RAA, other LAs or in the voluntary sector. 

• Children in care proceedings where there may be a plan of adoption as their final 

care plan. These children are tracked closely both in the LA and the RAA to ensure that there 

is timely progression of the plan form Agency Decision that they Should Be Placed for 

Adoption, through profiling and the identification of a family. 

• Children under the Public Law Outline where there may be a plan of adoption should 

care proceedings be initiated. 

• Children under the Public Law Outline where there may be a plan of adoption should 

care proceedings be initiated. 

The RAA tracking meeting enables any children of concern to be escalated and discussed 

with Cheshire East managers. This can range from children adopted but with no life story 

work or later in life letter, to children waiting for care planning decisions to be implemented 

and is also used to provide updates about children for whom family finding has not been 

successful and these children wait longer for a permanent family. 

We are currently tracking the plans for 121 children on Adoption Counts tracker. These 

meetings are productive when care planning feedback is received from the local authority 

verbally or on the recording system as this ensures a robust joint approach. We are 

continuing to track 15 children where later in life letters and/or life story books are 

outstanding. Workers have also been identified to complete this work.  

The team manager in the RAA linked to Cheshire East attends the monthly tracking 

meetings and she, alongside the dedicated family finders, work in the Cheshire East office 

bases alongside some of the social work teams, attend legal gateway meetings and pre-filing 

meetings to provide advice and a view where required. 

Adoption Counts recognises the importance of maintaining positive working relationships 

within Cheshire East and continues in working with colleagues offering advice, guidance, 

and support in relation to any adoption related issues. 

 

Page 9



4 
 

Performance 

3.1 Children made Subject to Should be Placed for Adoption (SHOBPA) decisions. 

Number of children made subject to SHOBPA decisions per month 

Cheshire East April May June July Aug Sept Total 

 1 2 0 3 6 2 14 

 

 

 

Fourteen children had a care plan of adoption and SHOBPA (should be placed for adoption) 

was agreed by the ADM (Agency Decision Maker). The decision that adoption would be in 

the child’s best interest was made following all other permanence options for the child 

having been ruled out. 

Five of these children (36%) are part of sibling groups.   

The number of SHOBPA decisions agreed as part of the children’s care plan in this period 

last year has decrease by 5 (26%), however, 30 SHOBPA decisions were agreed in total 

between 1.4.22 – 31.3.23 and the  number of SHOBPA decisions in Q3 is up on last year so it 

should not be taken that SHOBPA decisions are on the decline. 

3.2 Children subject to Placement Orders  

Number of children made subject to Placement Orders per month 

Cheshire East April May June July Aug Sept Total 

 1 3 1 0 2 1 8 

 

Page 10



5 
 

     

  
 

Eight Placement Orders were granted in the period - the same number were granted within 

this time frame last year.  

Six of the children who were granted Placement Orders (PO’s) within the period have 

subsequently been placed with their adoptive families, this includes three children who were 

originally placed in early permanence placements. 

The average length of time from a child entering care to receiving their placement order (A20) 

during this period is 352 days, this has increased by 26 days compared to the same period last 

year.  This figure was impacted by one child in particular whose care plan following a period 

of time in a mother and baby placement was initially one of rehabilitation home.  

Unfortunately, this could not be achieved and following a further assessment period, the child 

was then placed in a foster to adopt placement.  

3.3 The Numbers of Children who had a Change of Plan in the Period 

Five children had a change of care plan away from adoption, compared to three in the same 

period last year.     

  

Page 11



6 
 

The children were two sibling pairs, one aged 8 and 6, and the other aged 5 & 2, these 

children had their SHOBPA decision reversed and have remained with their foster carers 

under a SGO.  The remaining child was placed with an extended family member.    

3.4 The Numbers of Children who wait longer than 12 months after PO for an adoptive 

family. 

One child aged 7 years waited more than 12 months from Placement Order to be placed 

with their adoptive family. The child was part of a sibling pair and following assessment of 

the childrens individual needs, the decision was taken to place the children separately. The 

child needed to be placed externally and although several potential families were identified, 

it was not possible to progress with these links.     

 

3.5 Number of Children Placed for Adoption during period.  

Number of children placed for adoption per month 

Cheshire East April May June July Aug Sept Total 

 2 2 4 2 2 2 14 

 

 

 

Fourteen children have been placed for adoption in the period.  This is nine more children 

(+180%) compared to the same period last year. 79% were placed with adopters approved 

by Adoption Counts. 

The A10 average for these children is 688 days.  This is 262 days over the national indicator 

of 426 days and has increased by 63 days (10%) compared to the same period last year. 

However, more children were placed within the target A10 timing of 426 days than the 

previous year and the averages have been impacted by two children whose respective 

Page 12



7 
 

timings are 1658 and 1453 days.  One child was a 7 year old of African ethnicity who need to 

be placed in a family who could support direct contact with his birth family, the other is the 

child mentioned previously who waited over 12 months.  Another child outside of the 

measure had experienced an adoption disruption and further assessment of his needs was 

required prior to re-commencing family finding.  Another child outside of the measure had 

their placement order delayed to enable further parenting assessments to be completed 

and four children experienced delay in proceedings due to connected persons assessments.    

The A2 average for these children is 254 days.  This is an increase of 148 days (140%) from 

the same time frame last year and is 133 days above the national indicator of 121 days. 

However, the majority of these placements (eight children) were placed within the target of 

121 days, timeliness for these eight children is excellent with an average of 81 days.  The 

two children mentioned above were outside of the timescale for the reasons noted with 

respective A2 figures of 897 and 1011 days.   

3.6 Number of children adopted. 

Number of children made subject to Adoption Orders per month 

Cheshire East April May June July Aug Sept Total 

 2 1 2 1 3 3 12 

 

 
 

Twelve children have been adopted in Q1 & Q2 which is six more (100%) compared to the 

same period last year.  The A10 average for these children is 559 days which is an increase of 

59 days in comparison to the same period last year.  The children outside of the measure 

experienced delays due to carrying out connected person assessments, establishing paternity, 

Page 13



8 
 

completing viability assessments and a period of reassessment following birth parents 

separating.   

The A2 average is 118 Days, three days below the threshold and an improvement of 94 days 

on last year.  Seven children were adopted within the threshold of 121 days.  The children 

who experienced delay include a sibling pair who had been living with their grandparents and 

needed the period between match and placement to be extended to allow the adopters to 

meet with the grandparents and ease the transition. Prospective adopters were identified 

within timescales for another child, however, there was a high level of uncertainty with 

regards to his future health needs and it took longer to find a family with the skills and 

capacity to meet his lifelong needs.    

3.7 Early Permanency 

Number of children placed in a Foster to Adopter placement 

Cheshire East April May June July Aug Sept Total 

 0 0 0 0 2 0 2 

 

 

 

Two children were placed in early permanence placements during this period. This child was 

placed with carers temporarily approved by Manchester’s Agency Decision Maker as foster 

carers under regulation 25A of the Care Planning Regulations.   One child was placed in the 

same period last year.  Both children have now been placed for adoption. 

 

3. Quality of Reports 

 
CPRs (child permanence reports) are audited by the Adoption Counts Team Manager linked 

to Cheshire East, prior to SHOBPA consideration for the child and then again by either the 

Team Manager, Family Finding social worker or Senior Practitioner before matching panel. 

This is to ensure that CPRs are graded as being ‘Good’ as a minimum and that the final report 

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

2021/22
Q3

2021/22
Q4

2022/23
Q1

2022/23
Q2

2022/23
Q3

2022/23
Q4

2023/24
Q1

2023/24
Q2

Oct-21 Jan-22 Apr-22 Jul-22 Oct-22 Jan-23 Apr-22 Jul-22

Early Permanence Placements

Page 14



9 
 

is submitted to panel rather than reports still requiring amendments. The CPR is then graded 

by the panel considering the match. 

 

Twelve child permanence reports (CPR’s) audits have been completed during this period. Of 

those: 

Rating Outstanding 
Good with 

outstanding 
features 

Good 
In need of 

improvement 
None 

recorded 
Grand 
Total 

SHOBPA    5 7  12 

Panel   10  2   12 

 

Childrens CPR reports presented to adoption panel consider gradings at the child’s match, as 

opposed to the gradings prior to matching panel from the team Managers. The figures 

presented above are based on panel gradings, given their independence and impartiality. 

 

Support and training are offered to children’s social workers in completing children’s CPR’s. 
This includes specific training that can be delivered to teams, one to one support with 
social workers and advice with a robust quality assurance system with the ADM and Panel 
Adviser to SHOBPA. As can be seen by the figures above, the improvement of children’s 
CPR’s from SHOBPA to Adoption Panel is significant, with increased focus on achieving 
good quality CPR’s for SHOBPA.  
 

4. Recruitment of Adopters  

4.1 Approvals 
  
There have been 35 families approved as adopters during this period, this is 2 less than the 

previous 6 months (1.10.22– 31.3.23) and 7 less for the same period last year (1.4.22 – 

30.9.22).  This is a decrease of -17% compared to the same period last year and has remained 

at this level into Q3.  Nationally approvals are down -12% so we are performing below this 

average.  

  

At the end of the period (30th September 2023), there were 42 families in Stage One, 9 in 

between Stage One and Stage Two, and 36 in Stage Two; a total of 87 families in the 

assessment process. This is a slight increase on the number at the end of the previous six 

months which was 85.  It is an increase of 9 families compared to end of the same time last 

year.   

 

Enquiry numbers have decreased with 772 received over these six months. This is 241 less 

than the previous 6 months (1.10.22– 31.3.23), and 31 less than the same period last year 

(1.4.22 – 30.9.22).     

Page 15



10 
 

The spike in increase for that previous six months was not typical and was thought to be 

enquiries received from families who had delayed their enquiry during the main Covid period. 

The 772 received in this period is higher than comparable period pre Covid.  

 

Although many of these enquiries are merely requests for information packs, with no further 

contact, the agency feel these are still of high importance as those enquirers may enquire 

again in the future, when they are ready to speak further, and will hopefully come back to the 

original agency they enquired with. The source of our enquiries remains predominantly web 

based, and social media ads, so we continue with our investment in our promotion through 

Google Adwords and Facebook. 

  

Source  Enquiries  

Online   629 

Local Council referral / website  24 

Social Media  34 

Recommendation from friend / relative  7 

Other  2 

Outdoor Advertising  2 

Event /info Stand  24 

Radio  1 

Magazine/Newspaper 1 

Second Time Adopters  2 

Previous Adoption Enquiry  46 

 
Numbers of initial meetings have decreased in line with the numbers of enquiries. There have 

been 65 in this period, which is 32 less than the previous 6 months (1.10.22– 31.3.23), and 9 

less than the same period last year (1.4.22 – 30.9.22).     

Registration of interest’s (which is the formal application to be assessed as prospective 

adopters) have not decreased.  65 were received, of which 8 were fast-track applications 

(second time adopters or foster carers).  This was 1 more than the previous 6 months 

(1.10.22– 31.3.23), and 22 more than the same period last year (1.4.22 – 30.9.22).     

 

Our performance should still be viewed in the context of an ongoing national shortage of 

adopters. It suggests that the strategies implemented through our Recruitment and 

Marketing plan continue to be effective in terms of our adopter sufficiency, although of 

course we are not complacent and continue to strive to increase our numbers further.  We 

will continue to raise the profile of our agency to achieve adopter sufficiency for our children 

across our five local authorities, with a surplus to generate income and offset the cost of inter-

agency placements for our children who need them.  

 

Page 16



11 
 

Monthly Adopter Sufficiency meetings continue with the Head of Service, the Operations 

Managers, the Recruitment and Enquiries Manager and the Marketing Officer meeting to plan 

and review our progress.   

 

4.2 Referrals to the Independent Review Mechanism (IRM) 

    

No referrals were made to the IRM during this period. 

  
4.3 Partner/step-parent adoption enquiries   
  
Our Recruitment Team received 10 partner / step-parent adoption enquiries from Cheshire 

East in the period, which is 5 less than the same period last year (1.4.22 – 30.9.22).   We are 

finding in general that the numbers received are comparable with the numbers received pre 

Covid.  

  

All 10 enquiries resulted in a meeting taking place with a social worker, which is 5 more than 

the same period last year.  Meetings with Cheshire East residents made up 53% of the total 

meetings in the period.  

  

3 applications were accepted during this period, which is the same number as last year.  

 
4.4 Information events 
 
These events continued to be held ‘virtually’ on a fortnightly basis, where potential adopters 

watch a live presentation from the Recruitment Manager and a Social Worker, followed by a 

film with some of our adopters talking about their experiences.   

 

100 families watched an event during this period. This was relatively low compared to other 

periods.  For a short period of time, we had been steering enquiries from out of our five local 

authority areas to their local RAA/VAA’s, due to receiving a lot of ‘out of area’ families 

approaching us.  This was reversed when we identified the drop in the numbers attending 

information events.  

The number of families attending these events compared to the number moving to the next 

stage, will always seem higher due to us still inviting people to watch the event when they 

may not be in a position to move forward. This is with the hope that when they are wishing 

to apply, they will return to us in the future. 

 
4.5 Training groups  
 
During this period, 3 day face to face adopter preparation training groups continued to be 

held monthly.   

 

Page 17



12 
 

51 families attended these groups over the 6 month period.  

 
4.6 Marketing and Recruitment Campaigns 
 
Our marketing activity remained consistent during this period.  We continued with a high 

presence of digital and social media advertising and continued with outdoor advertising 

(billboards, etc.), radio advertising, magazines specifically for certain communities/locations, 

leaflet drops, etc. 

 

We also commissioned the Manchester Evening News for set time periods of online/media 

advertising.  This has been very successful as not only was there targeted Facebook 

advertising, but there was also a high additional digital presence. 

 

We have continued with targeted Facebook advertising to specifically reach out for members 

of the Black Community to come forward and think about adoption, and we attended 

specialist certain events with this aim in mind. 

 

We attended the main Pride events across the region too. 

The national #YouCanAdopt summer campaign took place this Summer, and the website and 

social media hashtag #YouCanAdopt was used widely. We were able to use the resources 

from this campaign to assist us with online and social media marketing.  

 

Additional marketing has been booked for National Adoption Week, which is scheduled for 

16th – 22nd October 2023.  We are running our own advertising during the entire campaign 

period, to go alongside the national campaign, using the same message, content and useful 

podcasts, aiming to make Adoption Counts stand out amongst our competitors and drive 

applicants to our website. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 18



13 
 

5. Compliments, comments, and complaints 

 

Description - compliments  

Feedback from adopters who were complimentary about the support and service they 

received throughout the adoption process. They referenced the hard work, skill and 

efficiency shown in their sensitive and complex case. They stated that all who have come 

into contact with the child and the adopters reference the great social work practice shown 

throughout the process.  

Praise for a social worker who was described by an adopter as ‘amazing during our journey 

to officially adopting our son”.  The couple referenced the social workers’ support, 

efficiency, guidance, and outstanding knowledge and how much faith they had in their 

work.  

Compliments for a junior adoption support worker regarding their understanding, interest, 

care and support in their case.  They were praised for their manner which was described as 

friendly, easy to talk, to whilst remaining professional.  The adoptive family were very 

satisfied with the clear support identified and possible courses of action offered to them.  

Description - complaints 

No complaints were received in the period 

  

  

Page 19



14 
 

 
6.Practice Developments in Adoption Counts  

We continue to hold monthly strategic matching meetings which are attended by all our 

family finders and recruitment and assessment social workers.  These meetings enable us to 

profile all our priority children (children with a final hearing in the next month and children 

with a Placement Order) to ensure links and matches are prioritised for all our children 

waiting.   We are currently in the process of completing a review of our strategic matching 

process to ensure best outcomes for all our children and prospective adopters.   

   

In addition to strategic matching, we are also   working in partnership with CoramBaaf with  

a collective matching project.    

   

Collective matching is a strategic solution to family finding that builds on existing individual 

practice and aims to use our supply of adopters as efficiently as we can to maximise the 

number of children we find families for.    

 

We will be applying this to all our priority children we are aiming to match and using the 

data supplied by CoramBaaf to inform our strategic matching processes.   

   

The image below shows two sets of adopters and two sets of children and the perceived 

‘strength’ of the matches between them. 

 

 

 

 
 
Under current practice, the likelihood is that the ‘very good’ match would be pursued, 

leading to only one match being made. Taking a Collective Matching approach, we would 

progress the two ‘good matches’ so that two matches are made. 

  

Page 20



15 
 

Enquiry numbers to assessment data relating to numbers and approved adopters is detailed 

in section 4.1. The conclusions we can draw from this data is that we have approved the 

least number of adopters since Adoption Counts became operational in 2017, we have 

approved 35  adopters in this reporting time period. 

  

Performance in relation to timescales for Stage 1 and Stage 2 of the assessment process are 

as follows: 

• Stage 1 - 0% were within timescales. 

• Stage 2 -  36% were in timescales. 

 

 

The delays in stage one has been related to statutory checks taking longer, the additional 

counselling references that are now requested following the Cumbria CSPR, overseas checks 

causing delay and previous partner references. In relation to systems and processes we are 

changing our structure to create a stage 1 team, so we can have better oversight and closer 

working with business support colleagues to reduce delays. 

 

Adopter tracking meetings focus on monitoring the timeliness of Stage 1 & Stage 2 

assessments whereby individual social workers report on the key dates and progress in 

relation to assessments being completed. This should improve timeliness and assist us with 

identifying issues that cause repeated delays, both inside and outside of our control. 

  

Applicants withdrawing from the assessment process were all considered appropriate by the 

agency and the adopters, with reasons being change of circumstances, reflective learning 

changed the adopter's perspective and matching considerations not correlating with the 

needs of the children waiting.  More applicants withdrew due to financial pressures, which 

has not been seen before.   

 

Sufficiency meetings are held monthly and  focus on the number of adopters needed to meet 

the needs of children with a plan of adoption, if this needs to be reviewed strategically plans 

will be put in place to consider the number and type of adopters needed to meet the needs 

of children. 

 

In relation to assessments, Adoption Counts have six staff who are trained in Adult 

Attachment style interview (ASI) training. One is an Operations Manager one Advanced 

Practitioner and four social workers. ASI interviews are completed families in assessment if 

it is considered this tool can enhance the assessment.  The attachment style interviews are a 

model of practice that that offers a conversational style interview which questions adoptive 

applicants about their current relationships with their partner (if a couple), family of origin 

and with two adults close to the applicants. The interview looks at general styles of relating 

to other adults in terms of self-reliance and how easy it will be for them to get close and be 

Page 21



16 
 

at ease in accessing help. This will be a clear indicator of how as adoptive parents they will 

reach out for support during the parenting of a child or young person through adoption.  

 

In relation to the quality of assessments there is a  robust QA system in place whereby 

Prospective Adopter Reports (PARs) are quality assured by Team Managers, Panel Adviser and 

Panel chairs. This three tier process ensures that assessments are thorough, child centred and 

clear in adopters skills and abilities to meet the needs of children. 

  

Approved adopters are given the opportunity to complete an Interactive profile to   

demonstrate their skills and abilities in offering a child permanence through adoption. This 

enhances the matching process and hopefully assist those who wait longer for a match as 

family finders for children will see a different dimension to them.  Some approved adopters 

are reluctant to go down this path however, social workers are encouraging in this way of 

profiling. 

    

Preparation Training continues to be delivered face to face by social workers within the 

Recruitment and Assessment teams along with colleagues from family finding and adoption 

support.  This offers a holistic view of adoption and co-production evidenced from the three 

areas of service. 

  

Top up Training is offered for prospective adopters in Stage 2 of the approval process and for 

approved adopters, is jointly delivered by the recruitment and assessment team, family 

finding team and adoption support. This is a comprehensive programme of training for 

applicants and adopters increasing their knowledge and preparation of parenting their child 

or children through adoption.  Feedback from approved prospective adopters both pre-and 

post-approval is positive. 

 We plan that all prospective adopters will attend the Race ( Rights, Acceptance , Culture and 

Ethnicity) Matters training to not only widen their thoughts and understanding of parenting 

a child from a different ethnicity but also about parenting children having a deeper knowledge 

and acceptance of diversity. 

  

Adoption Panels 

Information regarding Adoption Panel activity will be covered in full in the Chairs reports.  

Nicola Booth 
Operations Manager 
June  2024 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 22



17 
 

7. Adoption Support update  

 

Adoption Support Six Month Performance Report 
1 April to 30 September 2023 

 

Adoption Support remains integral to our delivery for adopted children, new adoptive 

families, birth families and adopted adults, recognizing the life long journey.  We remain 

committed to supporting families in the early transition stages of a placement and when an 

adoption order is made.  Thereafter we recognize that new challenges may emerge requiring 

varying levels of tailored support to ensure successful outcomes for children. We have based 

our service delivery on a graduated approach , with  our Adoption Psychology Service forming 

the foundation of our delivery 

Centre of Excellence for Adoption Support  

 

SERVICE OVERVIEW  

The long term funding for this service has been agreed by the board until March 2025, with 

negotiations with Clinical Commissioners to secure longer term funding on a joint basis 

moving forward. 

7.1 The Adoption Psychology Team is an assessment, consultation and therapeutic CAMHS 

and Educational Psychology partnership service for Adopted Children, their parents, carers 

and workers. It is a partnership between Manchester University Hospitals NHS Foundation 

Trust, One Education and Adoption Counts. The service is multidisciplinary including clinical 

psychology, therapeutic social work, child psychiatry and educational psychology. The 

information in this report relates to the CAMHS component of the service. The service is partly 

co-located with Children’s Social Care which enables a co-ordinated approach to the mental 

health and emotional wellbeing and develops the skills of the social work teams through 

consultation, training and joint working. It is consultation and referral-based and offers timely 

and flexible appointments with some choice of venue. The service sits alongside other 

services that support the child’s home, care planning, relationships, health, education and 

hobbies. The iThrive model shows how the Adoption Psychology and Adoption Counts 

Adoption Support Service fit together. 

i-Thrive Diagram-JUNE 2023.pdf 

7.2 AP Service outcomes 

1.  Adopted children have good mental health 

2.  Adopted children have healthy relationships 

3.  Adopted children have stable placements 

Page 23

https://stockportcouncil.sharepoint.com/:b:/r/sites/achub/AS/Minutes/Adoption%20Psychology%20resources/i-Thrive%20Diagram-JUNE%202023.pdf?csf=1&web=1&e=SSvWhG


18 
 

4.  Adopted children and their parents have a positive experience of care   

 and support  

 

7.3 Service Aims  

 

• Children who have a Placement Order and an adoption plan are offered, where 

necessary, assessment and intervention to support decision making and make 

recommendations to inform their placement needs.    

 

• Adopted children and families have access to assessment and interventions to 

improve their relationships, emotional and behavioural regulation and engagement 

with learning. 

 

 

• Children and families placed in their adoptive placement can access group-based 
approaches as part of an early intervention package to enable  families  to have a good 
start on their adoption journey. 

 

• Children who have been placed in their adoptive placement are able to access 
specialist assessment and intervention up to age 12.  

 
 

• Adoption social workers, family finders and children’s social workers can access 
Specialist Consultation for adopted children up to the age of 18 for advice and 
signposting. 

 

• Prospective adopters and adoptive parents are offered training, consultation and 
evidence-based interventions to enhance their understanding and management of 
the psychological needs of children who have experienced abuse and neglect. 

 

• Adoption Social Workers are offered training and consultation to enhance their 
understanding, assessment skills and knowledge of attachment, mental health 
difficulties and interventions 

 

The Multi Agency Resource Panel, continues to consider complex cases that require  

Adoption Support Fund (ASF)  match funding from the Local Authority. This has  enabled more 

consistent and transparent decision making  across the region. The panel consists of 

representative from CAMHS, Virtual Schools, Social Care and Voluntary Adoption Agencies 

Page 24



19 
 

(VAA,s)which enables professional challenge and support to make the best use of resources 

in our agency. 

 

7.4  Adoption Support Fund Applications 

 

We have continued to access the ASF to provide additional therapy for adoptive families.  This 

has enabled families to receive specialist support that we would not have been able to provide 

in house or access from other universal services. For comparison, last year’s total figures are 

included. 

 

Managers continue to oversee and sign off all Adoption Support Fund applications, ensuring 

quality of application and consistency of requests.  We have held a forum for our providers to 

inform them about the requirement for Outcome Measurement tools to be used in all 

applications; this is designed to offer a method for measuring outcomes for therapeutic 

intervention.  

Nearly all regular providers and now registered on the Flexible Purchase System (FPS or The 

Chest).  All have been evaluated by managers to ensure quality of providers for therapeutic 

provision. 

 
 

  Year total 
2022-2023  

Number of applications made   541 

Amount in £  1,912,477  
 
Includes 48,562.76 matched funding for the highest 
need families  
 

 
April-Sept 2023 

April-September 

2023 

 

LA name 

 

Applicat

ions 

Total ASF 

Funding 

Total 

Match 

Funding Total Application 

Total 

Application

s with 

Matched 

Funding 

Cheshire East  84  £280,544.38  £1,197.50  £281,741.88  1  

 

Total for 

Adoption Counts 

 

281 £908,228.12 £10,853.8 £919,082.00 5 

 

 

Page 25



20 
 

7.5  Referrals / Enquiries for Adoption Support   
 
The team has 980 open cases. These cases are:   
 

  Previous 
year 
2022-23 

Q1 2023  Q2 2023  Comments  

Open cases   
(these are broken down 
into categories below)  

930 980 980 First Response, Long term 
and adopted adults cases  

First Response  199 176 176   

Long term   529 597 597   

Adopted adults open 
cases  

202 207 207   

Letterbox (not in figure 
above)  

1360 1367 1367 See breakdown below  

  
Further information about the case numbers, including specialist workers:  

  Previous 
year 
2022-23 

Q1 2023  Q2 2023  Comments  

Therapeutic social 
worker (cases counted 
in long term team 
above)  

82 84 96 2.5 FTE  
  

Education advisor   39  37 42 0.5 FTE   

Adoption “Surgeries” 
completed  

100 17 25   

  
Demand continues to be steady.  The First Response team continue to offer advice and 

signposting, and for all families are encouraged to complete therapeutic parenting courses or 

sensory intervention, and / or are offered education support when they seek support initially.  

This is aimed at early intervention and a lighter touch for parents who need support. 19 

surgeries were completed in April-June and 25 in Jul- Sept.  First Response assessments have 

offered 40 families the chance to go straight to therapeutic parenting. 

Families who have completed this therapeutic training or who have more complex needs on 

first presenting to the service, are booked for an Adoption Support Assessment.  Waiting 

times for these are now rising, currently (December 23) at 21 weeks.     

Ongoing support is offered to 597 children and their families.  Social workers offer support 

around parenting, education, therapeutic interventions, and contribute to CIN, TAC, 

Safeguarding meetings and Children with disabilities colleagues.  We have undertaken an 

evaluation of all the families currently receiving support and 58 of these are considered to be 

on the edge of care by their social worker or parents.  These families will receive a high level 

of support and input. 

Page 26



21 
 

Demand from adults accessing their records has remained steady and the team (1 FTE) 

continue to respond to the requests as soon as possible.  There still remains a waiting period 

for many requests but most a dealt with within six months (this doesn't include any period of 

waiting to recover records from other LA’s, VAA’s or RAA’s).  Those who need a priority service 

receive this.   

 

7.6  Keeping in Touch Team (formerly Letterbox Service) 

The FSW letterbox workers continue to be supervised by a specialist manager, as a   discreet 

team of workers within Adoption Support. This allows Adoption Counts to support birth 

families and adopters to provide the best they can for the child to promote their identity. 

The Keeping in Touch Team (Letterbox) team are holding all contact referrals; this has 1394 

active exchanges, with some having exchanges several times a year involving multiple birth 

family members.   We write to all who reach 18 and have an active letterbox arrangement 

and offer ongoing support, so a small number of the cases above relate to young people aged 

18+.   The team is working under pressure as rising numbers of families are requesting support 

with new in-person (direct contact) arrangements.  We have developed guidance for social 

workers, families, and are contributing to national developments around maintaining 

relationships.  This includes emphasising the value of relationships for adopted children from 

the preparation groups through to matching and placement.   

 

Letterbox: 

 Previous 

year 

2022-23 

Q1 2023 Q2 

2023 

Comments 

Cheshire East  285  285  290  Data due to migrate by Feb 
2024  

Total 1367 1367 1394  

 

We anticipate a change in number for all cases recorded, starting from February 2024 

onwards.  We will be migrating data on to Charms which will enable us to record the number 

of exchanges as well as the number of children who send and receive letters; this will offer a 

more accurate insight into the way KITT is used. 

7.7  Birth families   

PAC-UK offer our independent birth parent counselling for all 5 LA’s.  We continue to have a 

positive working relationship with PAC-UK who continue to offer 1:1 support and an in-

Page 27



22 
 

person parent group. PAC-UK referral numbers are below.  These are on target for using the 

full commissioned amount by the end of the period. 

 

 
Q1: Q2: Q3: Q4: Total 

Apr-Jun 
2023 

Jul-Sep 
2023 

Oct-Dec 
2023 

Jan-Mar 
2024 

2023-24 

      
Apr-Jun 2023  Jul-Sep 2023  Oct-Dec 2023  Jan-Mar 2024  2023-24  

Cheshire East  1  6      7  

AC Total 11 12   23 

 

 

7.8  Support Groups 

Events for adopters continue and in this period we delivered a family event at Tatton Park 

Farm, which over 160 adopters and children attended.  The feedback was very positive and 

families valued the opportunity to develop peer support, as evidenced in the quotes from 

parents below: 

“[these events] are an invaluable source of support” 

“...our children being able to socialise with other adopted children” 

Evening workshops continue for parents, which offer training on specialist areas which affect 

adopted children. In this period we have delivered the following: 

April – Helping your child with change in school 

May – CATCH online 

June – Supporting your child’s development through play 

June 23 – Navigating the virtual world 

July 23 – Supporting teens (the teenage brain) 

July 23 – Life story work 

September – Support in education (SEND) 

October – Navigating the education system 

November – Therapeutic parenting for primary age 

Jan 24 – Sensory development for children  

Jan 24 – Looking After Yourself for parents 

Teen groups continue to offer a safe space for 14-16 year olds who have often found it harder 

to be part of a group, or not have the high level of support needed to participate in other 

Page 28



23 
 

areas, and a new group created due to demand for 12-14 year olds.  This has been well 

received and the parents have peer support sessions, so we enable parents to develop their 

networks with others.   

Adopter Voice are commissioned by Adoption UK to offer our adoptive parents a way to 

feed back to our service.  We have a new Communities & Engagement officer who joined 

them in November and we hope this will improve communication with volunteers.  We have 

4 forums arranged between now and October 2024 as well as our AAB meetings, and look 

forward to continuing to engage with our adopter voice community.  The family rambles are 

well received with good attendance.   

 

Adoption UK are commissioned to provide peer mentoring for families, where families can 

be linked up with another adopter who can offer a structured programme of 6 sessions of 

support.  We continue to encourage families to use this resource, in early placement, for 

more established families, and in early permanence. 

 

We have memberships to CATCH with online resources, webinars, training and support as 

well as a moderated parent forum. 

 

Adoption Counts continues to work alongside our Adoption Psychology colleagues and offer 

consultations, training to workers, direct work with families, therapeutic groups for parents 

and children, and specialist assessments.   

 

The project continues with the Institute of Public Care (Oxford Brookes).  This will be a two-

year research project into the impact of our multi-disciplinary Adoption Psychology service 

(APS).  This will involve research with adoptive parents who have previously used the service, 

and those who are coming into the APS service to follow through as they undertake specialist 

assessments or interventions.  It will aim to evaluate outcomes including the financial benefit 

of a multi-disciplinary team.  Due to some information sharing challenges the project was 

delayed in starting, but has now begun (December 23).  

 

Our virtual school colleagues continue to participate in a regular meeting, chaired by our 

Educational Psychologist, which is topic based and looks at the areas which matter most to 

adopters and professionals.   This is intended to bring virtual schools P-LAC leads together to 

best meet the needs of adopted children.   

 

We hold an adoption support sub-board which has invited representatives from each LA to 

attend, along with education and health colleagues.  In October the sub-board have 

focussed on education so have proposed a conference with virtual head teachers, SENCOs, 

designated teachers, LA SW’s, alongside our Adoption Matters colleagues, to look at 

transitions in education and we met again in December to work towards realising this goal.  

One of the main challenges will be in addressing the differing needs of adopted children 

Page 29



24 
 

during their transition into their adoptive family, and the period of time children are out of 

education. 

7.9 Practice Developments  

A request has been made to the Board to consider extending the 2.5 additional staff 

seconded to this service, as a response to historic underfunding and demand increasing 

post-pandemic. 

KITT has been re-branded to reflect the work taking place, and continues to develop the 

service for families wanting in-person keeping in touch (direct contact) arrangements.  Some 

of these take place in a crisis situation where the young person has contacted birth family 

members already.  As there has been a national focus on this area of support, we are seeing 

demand rise as families increasingly see the importance of maintaining links with birth family 

members for adopted children. 

We have been developing guidance for workers, and a policy framework, to offer families a 

consistent and containing response when requesting this support.   

Therapeutic social workers have been trained in Theraplay delivery and have successfully 

completed their first course for parents, without APS support.  This means that we have a 

greater flexibility for the course delivery as well as being able to generate more income for 

the service.  This has covered the costs of their training so further events will generate 

income. 

 

Kristen Roberts  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Page 30



25 
 

Adoption Counts Adoption Panel  
Adoption Panel Chair’s 6 monthly report  

April to September 2023 
 

Adoption Counts Adoption Panel Chair’s 6 monthly report: 
April 2023 to September 2023 
 
  

1. Introduction  
 

This report is a biennial report completed in rotation by the Independent Panel Chairs for 
Adoption Counts. The statistics used in the report and the quotations from the Panel feedback 
process are supplied by the Panel Administration Team, the Data Coordinator and the Panel 
Advisor for Adoption Counts. Thanks are expressed for their hard work in bringing the 
information together as well as their committed  and diligent support in the functioning of 
Panels 
 

2. Overview of Panels 
The arrangements for Panels brought about by the Covid pandemic situation have continued 
and the majority of Panels are still being held virtually using Microsoft Teams.  This has been 
seen as the “normal way” to now conduct panels with many members and adopters having a 
preference for this arrangement.  It is recognised however the benefit for applicants, social 
workers and panel members of meeting in person, in terms of building working relationships 
and ease of communication.  On this basis in person panels have been re-introduced and any 
Panels which take place on a Wednesday are now in person. 
Panels are held every two weeks on Fridays; every three weeks on Thursdays; every six 
weeks on Wednesdays and every six weeks on Tuesdays. This pattern of timings is consistent 
with arrangements pre-Covid and the usual locations of Panels are used as a reference. 
Panels usually begin at 9.15 or 9.30am, can cover from one item to a maximum of five items 
and generally happen on a weekly basis. The frequency of Panels supports the timeliness of 
approvals and matches. There remains the option to arrange additional Panels should that be 
necessary.  
 
 

     3. Panel Membership  
 

During the reporting period there were 42 panel members on the Central List. The make-up of 
the list is as follows: 
4 Panel Chairs, 1 Vice Chair, 14 Local Authority and/or Adoption Counts Social Worker 
representatives, 18 Independent members, 3 Medical Advisors, 1 Elected Member, and 1 NHS 
member. 
The independent members are made up of Adoptive Parents, and/or people with a background 
in Health, Education, Youth Work and the Police. 
 
9 of the Social Workers are from Adoption Counts, 1 is from Stockport, 1 is from Salford, 1 
from Cheshire East and 2 are from Manchester. 
Panels do not have to have a fixed membership or a maximum number of members and there 
is no limit to the number of people whom it considers suitable to be members of an adoption 
panel. These members need to be suitably qualified and/or have the experience to consider 
these cases. We are fortunate in that our members do have the expertise and experience to 
make recommendations however our ethnicity is that of predominately White British 
individuals and we need to proactively encourage new members that reflect the racial and 
cultural diversity of the area that Adoption Counts serves, as well as ensuring that members 

Page 31



26 
 

reflect wider diversity, for example in terms of gender, age, disability, socio economic 
background and life experience. 
During this period, we have had regular attendance by 3 of the Local Authority’s Paediatricians 
and this has been very much welcomed, however for 1 Paediatrician this is limited to the start 
of the meeting (due to clinic arrangements) and if any new medical information arises during 
panel we are left without that level of expertise.  It would be beneficial if this function was 
shared between the 5 authorities to ease the burden of those paediatricians that currently 
support our work, and this might allow them to commit to the full panel meeting.  Discussion 
is under way with the two other Medical Advisors who do not regularly attend Panel to try to 
resolve this issue. 
Similarly social workers from the 5 authorities should commit to releasing at least 2 from the 
4 smaller Authorities that make up this RAA and 3 social workers from Manchester to again 
ease the pressure on the existing volunteers that we have from them and to ensure that we 
have representation to cover for sickness and leave. This issue has been raised with the ADM 
for each of the RAA local authorities and a response is awaited.  
 
Panel Member Appraisal  
Most Panel Members have had their appraisal with approximately 70% of appraisals having 
been completed in person. 
 
 
Panel Member Training  
Adoption Counts continues to run two Panel Development Days per calendar year; the last 
one took place in July 2023.  This included: 

- Adoption support and post adoption contact 
- Learning tables that provided an overview of some of the top up training the agency 

delivers including BLM & Diversity, Early Permanence and contact 
- Attachment Style Interviews in adoption assessments. 

Feedback from the Panel Members who attended the training was positive, in particular in 
relation to the Black Lives Matter and Diversity training. 
The next Panel Member training is booked in for January 2024. 
 
Panel Chairs have continued to meet quarterly with agency senior managers. This has been 
meaningful and allows all parties to discuss any issues, both good practice and areas for 
development in a constructive manner. The meeting is enriched by the attendance of ADMs 
joining the second half of the meeting, this supports collaborative discussion about issues 
relating to all 5 authorities and promotes consistency of both practice and paperwork. 
Comments from ADMs are particularly useful and much valued, however not all ADM’s attend 
and therefore their ability to influence practice and resources can be limited.  
 
The Panel Member Learning Library is still active and available to all panel members via 
SharePoint. This resource contains a wide variety of learning material including policy and 
procedure documents, information leaflets, training slides, information re: adoption support; 
recruitment and assessment and family finding.   
 
All Panel members are required to keep a record of their learning and research, which should 
be reflected on and discussed during their appraisals to ensure their commitment to continued 
professional development.  For panel members that are social work trained this CPD can be 
used to meet the requirements of their professional registration.  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 32



27 
 

 
4. Panel Business Cases considered by Panels (1 April 2023 - 30 September 2023) 

Panel Business 

 No. of 

panels 

No. of 

items 

consider

ed 

Matches Approva

ls 

SHOBP

A 

De-reg Adopter 

review 

Panels  

 

26 78 42** 35* 1 0 0 

 
*1 approval was a recommendation by the Social Worker that the applicants were unsuitable 
to adopt.  This was agreed with by Panel, and ADM 
**49 children matched – 36 single children and 5 sibling groups of 2 & 1 sibling group of 3 
Out of the 42 matches for 49 children, 10 were fostering for adoption – which is 24% of the 
total matches and 20% of the children. 
 
Data  
 
CPR/PAR 
 
For the above period, 49 CPRs were presented to Panel (this included seven sibling groups 
of two) and 35 PARs. 
 

RAA data of quality of reports. All agencies  

Matches,  49  CPRs * Approvals, 35 PARs   

Outstanding 5 10% Outstanding 6 17.1% 

Good 36 73.% Good 27 77.2% 

In need of 

improvement  

8 17% In need of 

improvement 

2 5.7% 

Inadequate 0 0% Inadequate  0 0% 

 *1 report was ungraded as panel deferred and has not been included in any of the 
figures 
 
 
Agency policy requires all CPRs and PARs presented to Panel to be graded at least Good at 
second audit. The percentage of CPRs graded Outstanding, Good with outstanding features 
or Good is a significant improvement at 83% than last quarter’s figure of 77.35%. 
 
The outstanding CPR’s give a robust analysis of the options available that have been 
considered by the agency for the future care needs of that child whilst consideration is given 
to the Welfare Checklist at all times.  
 
PARs graded Outstanding, Good with outstanding features or Good has risen from 90% in the 
previous quarter to 94.3%.   
 

Page 33



28 
 

SHOBPA  
 
 

CPR Agency specific data within the RAA – as a % out of total of 49 reports** 

Agency Outstanding Good In need of 

improvement 

Inadequate 

Cheshire East 

(12) 

0 and 0% 

 

 10 and 20% 

 

 2 and 4% 

 

0 and 0% 

 

 
 
 
 

CPR Agency specific data per Local Authority – as a % within each LA 

Agency Outstanding Good In need of 

improvement 

to be good 

Inadequate 

Cheshire East  

out of 12 

0 and 0% 

 

10 and 83% 

 

 2 and 17% 

 

0 and 0% 

 

 
 
5. Panel Scrutiny – timescales  
 
 

Agency specific data matches 

Agency Total 

children 

matched 

A1 met A1 not met A2 met A2 not met 

Cheshire 

East  

12  2 and 17% 10 and 83% 7 and 58% 5 and 42% 

++ SHOBPA not included. 
 
Comments  
There is wide variation in the above figures across local authorities, however a number of 
factors impact timelines of placement such as age on entry into care, sibling group, 
complexity of need, etc.  
 
Each local authority will be analysing their own cohort of children via the national scorecards 

and comparisons with both regional and statistical neighbours.   
   
 
 
 
 

Page 34



29 
 

 
 
 
 
6.  Attendee Feedback  
 
Both the social workers and adopters attending Panel are asked the following questions:, 
which are then graded from 1 (Poor) to 5 (Excellent)  
 
Feedback from evaluations 
 
Only 15 evaluations were completed for this half year. (last quarter in brackets) 

Adopters  Adoption social 
workers  

Children’s social 
workers  

Family Finders  

4 6 3 2 

                                        

Question  Score  

Before attending panel were you clear about panel’s function? 4.53     (4.67) 
 
 

Were you given sufficient notice about the date and time of 
panel?  

Yes 5.0  
 (No data) 

Were panels members introduced to you?    5.0    (5.0) 

Did panel members treat you with courtesy and respect?    5.0  (4.67) 

Did panel members seem familiar with your case?  4.93  (4.8) 
 

Were panel member’s questions relevant to the issues they 
were considering? 

5.0    (5.0) 

Were you given the opportunity to clarify points raised? 5.0     (4.6) 

Were the recommendations made by the Panel Chair clear?  5.0     (4.8) 

Overall gradings 4.93      (4.6) 

 
 
Additional comments from Social Workers and Family Finders: 
“Panel Chair and members were all professional and friendly – Panel can be overwhelming at 
times for workers and applicants but more recently they have been more personable and I 
think allows applicants to speak more freely.  The panel questions were provided 2 days prior 
to Panel which was the earliest I have had these – this was brilliant as allowed more time to 
read over them. The questions were well thought out and feedback helpful for developing my 
assessments.  Lastly the feedback was provided immediately afterward whcih I really 
appreciate.” 
 
“This was a lovely panel to attend and also for my adopters who were incredibly nervous. 
Everyone engaged with warmth and undivided attention and welcomed my adopters on to 
panel. Chair made it very clear what was going to happen for them and the panel came over 
as very cohesive and well run. Thank you so much. Also had a sense that all the papers had 
been very carefully scrutinized” 
“The panel were friendly, humorous and good natured, which fostered a relaxed atmosphere.” 
“Everyone was relaxed and welcoming” 
“I didn't feel the need to clarify any points as I had a sense that the documents had been well 
read. I also felt that [Social worker’s] very detailed work on the Panel documentation was 

Page 35



30 
 

recognized and it was because of such detail that the questions asked were actually quite 
easy for the adopters to respond to.” 
“The warmth and enthusiasm of everyone. Also a real sense of the 'risks' in the placement but 
this was presented with sensitivity and yet the factors recommending the match were 
verbalised in the summary.” 
“Panel members made their wishes clear, well communicated, questions asked in simple form, 
process during panel explained and managed well, friendly approach by all” 
“This was a very positive meeting and I felt everyone included understood the gravity of what 
was at stake for the child and the perspective adopters.” 
“This was a very serious meeting that it life changing for some. It was taken extremely seriously 
however there was also room for a little humour which I found very helpful. Everyone was fair 
in there comments which were appropriate. There was also positive feed back for the 
professionals which is very welcome and in my experiences unusual.” 
“A smooth and stress free experience.” 
“ I felt the panel process was straight forward as was the actual meeting. I felt the panel 
members understood the case and their questions were pertinent.” 
“I felt the panel process was straight forward as was the actual meeting”. 
  “I felt the panel members understood the case and their questions were pertinent. This was 
a very serious meeting that it life changing for some.  It was taken extremely seriously however 
there was also room for a little humour which I found very helpful.  Everyone was fair in their 
comments which were appropriate.  There was also positive feedback for the professionals 
which is very welcome and in my experiences unusual”.   
"Panel were extremely patient in listening to the nervous couple; who wanted to make sure 
they said enough to explain their understanding”.  
 
 
Feedback from one social worker related to a case where there was a negative 
recommendation, comments made regarding this case were as follows: 
“Panel's function is to make a recommendation based on the written and verbal information in 
front of them related to the applicants. It was therefore disappointing that a panel member 
abstained from making a recommendation as someone in her personal life made positive 
changes in similar circumstances to the applicants and she wanted to point out that people do 
change. It was noted by the chair however that there was no evidence of the applicants having 
the ability to change...... The panel member referred to above appeared to have limited insight 
in to the information and analysis around the applicant's ability to be adaptable, reflective and 
to grow. She felt that her personal experience with a family member's own growth and 
reflection meant that the applicant's had the same ability....... I understand that panel members 
are able to abstain from making a recommendation where they feel unable to, but I remain 
concerned about the panel member's reasoning and I hope that she was challenged and 
debriefed by the chair following the panel, for her own learning.” 
 
In reflecting on the feedback of this social worker it is identified that the role of the Panel Chair 
is vital here in terms of providing appropriate challenge both within Panel discussions and also 
individually following Panel, and within members’ appraisal. In addition there is a potential 
training need for Panel members to ensure that they objectively consider Panel cases.  
 
Adopter Feedback  
“Going to panel was very daunting but we were made to feel very welcome and we actually 
enjoyed the process and meeting the panel members. Once we were there we felt relaxed 
and it didn't take long at all, so it was a very good experience. Thank you!.” 
“All the panel members where lovely really made me feel at ease and ask I started to answer 
my question it made me feel less nervous and like a conversation” 
“They were straight forward and really empathetic with my answers and body language , 
clear they were listening to my answer” 

Page 36



31 
 

“Everything went as smoothly, and positively, as we imagined it would be. Panel members 
were warm and seemed delighted to meet our little girl and ourselves and were genuinely 
happy to pass on the good news that we'd been approved for our match.” 
 
 
Conclusion  
In summary within this last six month period Adoption Counts has seen on-going progress, in 
particular within the grading of CPRS and PARs.  Social workers working across all of the 5 
local authorities that comprise the RAA have delivered a higher proportion of child focussed, 
well written reports that have enabled Panel in its decision making process.  Quality paperwork 
supports the effective functioning of Panel, reducing the length of Panel discussion and 
questioning for both social workers and applicants. 
Feedback from both social workers and adopters attending Panel is consistently good, 
providing evidence of the quality of preparation and scrutiny undertaken by Panel members, 
as well as the creation of a welcoming and positive Panel culture. 
The writer would like to express her thanks in particular to the high quality administrative 
support delivered by the Adoption Counts Panel Admin team.  Papers are consistently 
provided on time with the minutes produced providing a fair and accurate account of Panel 
discussions. 
 
Recommendations:  
The agency should consider: 

1 Continuing their work to seek to increase the number of Paediatricians available to 
support Panel, specifically the two Medical Advisors who do not regularly attend 
Panel. 

2 Ensuring consistency across all 5 local authorities of the availability of Medical 
Advisors for consultations with prospective adopters prior to Matching Panel   

3 Delivering social worker training across all of the 5 local authorities to support 
workers in writing CPRs that accurately and sensitively consider how a child will 
receive and respond to words and terminology used in this document when they 
read it in later life.  Whilst it is accepted that some progress has been made in this 
area there remains a lack of consistency across all 5 local authorities 

4 The rationalisation of paperwork for Panel items. Can paperwork be rationalised 
and consolidated to reduce the volume of Panel paperwork and to ensure that 
Panel members can focus on the central issues? For example are multiple copies 
of a child’s medical assessment required in every case?    

5 Ongoing work to widen the diversity of Panel membership, from the perspective of 
issues such as race and culture, age, gender, socio economic background and life 
experience. 

6 In response to feedback from the July 2023 Panel member training explore running 
a more extended training event around BLM and Diversity to develop member’s 
cultural awareness and competencies. 

7 Training for Panel members regarding the giving of reasons for decisions, to 
ensure a welfare checklist focussed and an evidenced based approach to decision 
making. 
 

Naomi Kelso, Independent Panel Chair 
19.4.24 

 

Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank



 

OFFICIAL OFFICIAL-SENSITIVE 

 

 

Cared For Children and Care Leavers Committee 
 
Date of Meeting: 

 
30 September 2024 

 
Report Title: 

 
Cared For Children and Care Leaver’s Q1 score card 
2024/25 

 
Report of: 

Executive Director of Children’s Services 
 

  
 

Ward(s) Affected: 
 

 
All Wards 

 

1. Purpose of Report 

1.1. This report sets out the performance for the Cared For Children and Care 

Leaver’s service for quarter 1 of 2024/25 (1 April 2024 – 30 June 2024).  

The cared for children and care leavers committee is asked to note the 

performance for quarter 1 and to provide support and challenge in relation 

to performance in relation to cared for children and care leavers. 

2. Executive Summary 

2.1 This report provides an overview of quarter 1 performance for children and 

families services for the relevant indicators for the reporting year of 2024-25   

3. Recommendations 

3.1.     The Cared For Children and Care Leaver’s Committee is asked to: 

3.2 note the performance of children’s services for quarter 1. 

 

3.3 provide scrutiny in relation to performance in relation to cared for children 

and care leavers. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 39 Agenda Item 6



 

OFFICIAL OFFICIAL-SENSITIVE 

4. Reasons for Recommendations 

4.1. One of the key areas of focus for the cared for children and care leavers 

committee is to review performance and scrutinise the effectiveness of 

services for cared for children and young people and care leavers. 

5. Other Options Considered 

5.1. Not applicable 

6. Background 

6.1. This quarterly report provides the committee with an overview of 

performance across cared for children and care leaver’s service. This report 

relates to quarter 1 of 2024-25 (1 April 2024 – 30 June 2024).  

6.2. The following indicators have been highlighted for consideration 

7. Briefing information 

 

7.1 Cheshire East Council were responsible for 536 cared for children at the 

end of quarter 1.  This is a decrease from 541 at the end of quarter 4. The 

cared for children population changes daily as children enter and leave 

care. Children cease to be cared for due to several reasons, these include 

turning 18, returning to their birth family, adoption, and special 

guardianship. The latest comparable data we have across the region shows 

that Cheshire East’s rate of 69 per 10,000 is slightly below the national 

average of 70 per 10,000 and is above that of 60 for statistical neighbours.  

 

7.2 We are constantly monitoring the numbers of cared for children and looking 

at ways to ensure that we are reviewing plans for children to achieve 

permanence at the earliest opportunity. Positively, the number of children 

who are discharged from care continues to increase, since April 24, 32 

children have ceased to be cared for (in addition to those turning 18).  We 

have several applications currently before the court so we are hopeful that 

this positive progress will continue. We are demonstrating a commitment to 

not intervening in children’s lives when this is not necessary.  

 

 

7.3 At the time of writing this report, the cared for service has 8 permanent 

social work vacancies out of an establishment of 24. These vacancies are 

filled with agency social workers. Positively these agency social workers 

have been in post for over 12 months and whilst not ideal they have 

brought some stability and experience to the service. This is particularly 

necessary of cases which are before the Court. Locally and nationally 

social work recruitment is a challenge. Positively, we have been able to 

recruit newly qualified social workers, but we have not been successful in 

recruiting any experienced social workers. As we train our new social 

workers, we hope to be able to reduce the number of agency social 

workers within the service.  Work is being undertaken with HR colleagues 

Page 40



 

OFFICIAL OFFICIAL-SENSITIVE 

to consider how we retain our existing workforce and how we recruit 

experienced social workers. They are looking at neighbouring authorities to 

ensure that the Cheshire East offer is attractive and competitive. We are 

also increasing our workforce through ‘grow your own’ methods such as 

offering social work apprenticeships and student placements. We are also 

considering how we can use alternatively qualified staff for those children 

who do not require a qualified social worker. This would allow experienced 

social workers to work with the most complex cases.  

 

7.4 The timeliness of cared for children’s reviews needs some improvement, as 

performance has dipped to 76% in Q1. Overall, in 2023/24 the performance 

was at 94%. We know that most reviews were re-scheduled within a few 

days and were therefore only marginally out of timescale. However, this 

decline is not acceptable. There has been some sickness within the 

safeguarding service which has impacted upon timeliness. Some additional 

recruitment of Independent Reviewing Officers is underway to ensure that 

there is sufficient capacity within the service. However, we also know that 

some reviews were cancelled because social workers had not prepared the 

report in time for the review to take place. This is now an area of focus for 

weekly performance sessions. Positively, 94% of children were involved in 

their reviews. It is important that children and young people are involved in 

their plan, and we are always looking at how we can develop and improve 

their participation.  

 

7.5 Q1 data shows that the number of children placed with in-house foster 

carers remains consistent. (126 in Q1). Positively, the number of children 

placed with connected carers has increased to 116 in Q1 from 102 in Q4.  

This means that children are living with someone they have an existing 

relationship with.  We are constantly looking at how we can increase 

recruitment of foster carers, which will mean that we can place more of our 

children with Cheshire East foster carers. Generally, we want children to 

remain local and within Cheshire East where possible. For some children, 

they may live out of the area because they need a specialist placement, or 

they want to be close to birth family who have moved away. Arrangements 

for any child who lives at a distance are reviewed on a regular basis to 

ensure this remains appropriate.   

 

 

7.6 It is our ambition to have as few children placed in residential care as 

possible and where they are, this is a matched placement to improve their 

outcomes. However, currently the number of children living in residential 

care remains static. In Q1, the number of children living in residential care 

was 46.  We remain committed to ensuring that children have the 

opportunity of living within a family wherever possible and continue to 

review children’s placements to see if there are alternatives. We are 

currently looking at how we can increase our in-house residential provision 

Page 41



 

OFFICIAL OFFICIAL-SENSITIVE 

thus reducing the need to use unregistered provisions for our children and 

young people in the future. We currently have 1 child living in an 

unregistered provision; we are actively searching for an alternative home 

for this young man.  Cheshire East now has its first registered Children’s 

Home open with another 2 homes planned to be opened, registered and 

operational by the end of December 2024.  

 

7.7 The number of adoptions continues to increase with 9 children already 

adopted since April 2024. In 2023/24 we had a total of 24 children adopted. 

We have a further 16 children living in their adoption placements. Of the 9 

children legally adopted in 2023/24, unfortunately the number of days from 

entering care to moving into placement with an adoptive family is skewed 

by a small number of children where there has been delay. Q1 data shows 

that it took on average 519 days, compared to a national average of 376. 

We understand the delay involved for some of these children but have 

remained ambitious in terms of continuing to search for an adoptive family 

for them. Some of this delay relates to an older sibling group who have now 

been able to move to their adoptive placement and so the outcome is 

positive in terms of the fact that they will not remain cared for throughout 

their childhood. Locally and nationally the timescales for placing children 

within their adoptive families is monitored to avoid unnecessary delay for 

children. For those children where delay was experienced, their individual 

circumstances are well understood, and we continue to scrutinise planning 

to ensure that children do not experience unnecessary delay.  

 

7.8 A number of our most vulnerable Care Leaver’s continue to be supported 

under Staying Close as a result of funding from the DFE. Staying Close is a 

model which provides an enhanced support package for young people 

leaving care from children’s homes and supported accommodation and is 

designed to be a comparable offer to the option to Stay Put, which supports 

young people in foster care to remain with their former foster carers until 

age 21. These bespoke packages of support help young people to develop 

their confidence and skills for independent living, and for their emotional 

health and wellbeing. The funding for Staying Close ceases at the end of 

March 2025. Currently it is unclear if the DFE will mandate Local Authorities 

to mandate Staying Close projects.  

 

Placement stability for cared for children still needs to improve and we have plans in 

place to ensure that social workers are prioritising long term matching of children. Q1 

data shows 61% of cared for children in care for at least 2.5yrs at the end of the 

period have been living in their current placement for at least 2 years. We have 

developed a permanence tracker which is assisting in monitoring and driving forward 

children’s plans and ensures that children exit care if possible.  

 

 

Page 42



 

OFFICIAL OFFICIAL-SENSITIVE 

7.9 The NEET data for our 19 to 21-year-old young people shows that 38% of 

this cohort are not engaged in education, employment, or training. This is 

an improvement from 47% in Q4. The national average for 2023/24 was 

38% with statistical neighbours being 37%. We continue to look closely at 

this data and the circumstances for these young adults which include 

pregnancy, parenting, or illness, but are not exclusive to this. Within the 

Staying Close project there are dedicated EET workers and an 

apprenticeship coordinator, which is positively assisting in terms of 

supporting our care leavers to access education and employment. We are 

optimistic that the progress we are making will continue and that the 

number of young people engaged in education, employment, or training 

continues to increase.  

 

 

7.10 There has been a decline in the number of children who had their annual 

health assessments within timescales from 91% in Q4 to 83% in Q1. This 

decline has been discussed with health colleagues to ensure that we have 

an accurate picture and understand what the barriers are for children 

having their health assessments within timescales. There will be an 

increased focus on timeliness. Some of the delay relates to children who 

are placed out of area and where we are reliant on other health services to 

undertake these assessments.  

 

7.11 Positively 100% of Care Leavers had Health Passports by the time they left 

care. Progress in this area is now being sustained.  

 

7.12 Q1 data shows that 82% of cared for children saw a dentist within the last 

12 months. Nationally, the average is 70% and our statistical neighbour 

average is 65%. This continues to be an area of focus.  

 

7.13 Q1 data shows that 93.5% of our care leavers (aged 16 to 21) are in 

appropriate accommodation. This is not 100% because we have a small 

number of young people who are in prison, and this is never recorded as 

being appropriate.  We have seen a recent increase in young people in 

Custody. Some of these young people are on remand for serious offences, 

others have been sentenced. When a young person is in custody, they 

continue to be supported by a Personal Advisor who visits and advocates 

on their behalf.  

 

7.14 The number of young people living in emergency accommodation varies on 

a day to day basis. Members will be aware that at the time of the Ofsted 

inspection there were 3 young people living in hotels. Over recent weeks 

this has at times increased to 8. Accommodation continues to be our 

greatest challenge. Young people who end up in hotels are usually our 

most vulnerable and complex young people and have exhausted all other 

options. They often present with issues such as criminality and substance 

Page 43



 

OFFICIAL OFFICIAL-SENSITIVE 

misuse. We know that when a young person has accommodation stability, 

it is much easier to support them with their complex needs. Work is ongoing 

in respect of widening our offer of accommodation options to young people 

aged 16 to 25. This work is part of the Improvement Plan and updates are 

provided to the Improvement and Impact Board on a monthly basis and to 

each Children and Families Committee. 

 

7.15 88% of care leavers have up-to-date pathway plans and 92% of care 

leavers had their plans reviewed within timescales. We have introduced a 

new Pathway Plan which was developed with young people to ensure that 

this is user friendly. We will continue to consult with young people and 

involve them in the development of service changes.  

 

7.16 Care Leaver hubs are now operational. There are 2 bases, one in Crewe 

and one in Macclesfield. Young people are attending the hubs for planned 

sessions such as cooking and education as well as using them as a base to 

drop into, knowing that there will always be someone there to offer a hot 

drink and support. The longer-term plan is to have a bespoke hub at the 

Crewe Youth Zone. Free bus travel for Care Leavers aged 16 to 21 will be 

operational from 30 September 2024 and will greatly assist our young 

people to access the hubs.  

 

7.17 There will be a formal review of the Council’s Offer to Care Leaver’s on 13th 

November 2024. Young people will be attending, and this is an opportunity 

to consider how the council can improve its offer to our young people. 

Members would be very welcome to attend this event at the YMCA. 

 

8. Consultation and Engagement 

8.1. Not applicable. 

9. Implications 

10. Legal 

 

10.1. There are no direct legal implications. 

11.  Finance 

 

11.1 There are no direct financial implications or changes to the MTFS because 

of this briefing paper.  

 

11.2 Policy 

 

12.1 There are no direct policy implications. 

 

 

 

Page 44



 

OFFICIAL OFFICIAL-SENSITIVE 

12. Equality 

 

13.1 Members may want to use the information from the performance indicators 

to ensure that services are targeted at more vulnerable children and young 

people. 

 

13. Human Resources 

 

14.1 There are no direct human resources implications. 

 

14. Risk Management 

 

15.1 There are risks associated with some performance measures, e.g. increases 

in demand and timeliness of services. 

 

15. Rural Communities 

 

16.1 There are no direct implications for rural communities. 

 

16. Children and Young People/Cared for Children 

 

17.1 Performance reports enable members to identify areas of good performance 

and areas for improvement in relation to children and young people, 

including cared for children. 

 

17. Public Health 

 

18.1 There are no direct implications for public health. 

 

18. Climate Change 

 

19.1 This report does not impact on climate change. 

 

Access to Information 
 

Contact Officer: Annemarie Parker 
 

Appendices: Corporate Parenting Score Card Q1 

Background Papers: None 

  

 

Page 45



This page is intentionally left blank



Priority Indicator Indicator name

23/24    

outturn Q2 23/24 Q3 23/24 Q4 23/24 Q1 24/25

24/25    

outturn

Benchmark 

National 

(most recent 

available)

Benchmark 

Stat N'bour 

(most recent 

available)

Corporate 

Plan Aim Acronym

G1 Number of cared for children 541 566 533 541 536 Fair

G2 Rate per 10,000 cared for children 69 73 67 69 69 70 60 Fair

G3 Number of care leavers (aged 16-21) 379 319 312 335 Fair

1.1

% cared for children reviews in timescales

94% 86% 83% 79% 76% Fair

1.2

% of children and young people involved in their reviews

98% 95% 94% 98% 94% Fair

2.1

Number of 16-18 year old care leavers that are NEET
18 28 28 29 Fair

NEET - Not in Education, 

Employment or Training

2.2

Number of care leavers accessing higher education 

(University) 23 26 21 23 Fair

2.3

Number of Cheshire East care leavers in apprenticeships 

(18+) 8 6 6 9 Fair

2.4

% 19-21 year care leavers that are NEET (as per national 

reporting)
47% NEET at 

birthday 47% 47% 47% 38%

38% NEET at 

birthday

37% NEET at 

birthday Fair

NEET - Not in Education, 

Employment or Training.   

3.1 Number of cared for children in external foster care 129 118 124 119 Fair

3.2
Number of cared for children in internal foster care

117 125 126 126 Fair

3.3

Number of children in care living with relatives and 

friends (inc reg 24) 104 92 102 116 Fair
Reg 24 -Regulation 24

3.4
Number of children placed with parents 

41 35 35 31 Fair

3.5
Number of children and young people in residential care

47 42 46 46 Fair

June 2024 - Cared for and Care Leavers Scorecard  - This contains a rolling 4 quarters for comparison

Notes: The boxes that are grayed out are where national data is not applicable or data isn't available.

Notes: Rates are calculated using the 2020 ONS mid year population estimate 0-17 of 78,068 (Office of National Statistics) and are calculated as a rate per 10,000 children aged 0-17. This enables the local authority to be compared on a 

like for like basis with different local authorities or groups of authorities. 

Notes: The column highlighted in blue reflects the most recent quarter being reported on 

G
en

er
al

P
ri

o
ri

ty
 1

 -
 W

e 
w

ill
 c

ar
e 

fo
r 

o
u

r 
C

h
ild

re
n

 a
n

d
 Y

o
u

n
g 

P
eo

p
le

 a
s 

an
y 

go
o

d
 p

ar
en

t 

w
o

u
ld

P
ri

o
ri

ty
 2

 -
 Im

p
ro

ve
d

 E
d

u
ca

ti
o

n
, 

Em
p

lo
ym

en
t 

an
d

 T
ra

in
in

g 
o

u
tc

o
m

es
P

ri
o

ri
ty

 3
 -

 W
e 

w
ill

 w
o

rk
 t

o
 g

iv
e 

al
l c

h
ild

re
n

 a
n

d
 y

o
u

n
g 

p
eo

p
le

 a
 f

o
re

ve
r 

h
o

m
e 

an
d

 k
ee

p
 t

h
em

 s
af

e

OFFICIAL-SENSITIVE

# OFFICIAL

P
age 47



Priority Indicator Indicator name

23/24    

outturn Q2 23/24 Q3 23/24 Q4 23/24 Q1 24/25

24/25    

outturn

Benchmark 

National 

(most recent 

available)

Benchmark 

Stat N'bour 

(most recent 

available)

Corporate 

Plan Aim Acronym

G
en

er
al

3.6

Number of individuals with 3 or more placements 

(rolling 12mth figure)

66 68 54 66 60 Fair

3.7

% cared for children in care for at least 2.5yrs at the end 

of the period and living in their current placement for at 

least 2 years
66% 70% 68% 66% 61% 71% 72% Fair

#NAME?

3.8

Number of cared for children placed over 20 miles from 

home address (Cheshire East and out of borough) 120 141 152 134 Fair

3.9 Number of children living out of borough 235 221 212 201 Fair

3.10

Number of cared for children who have been missing in 

the quarter 33 25 41 36 Fair

3.11

Number of children who have a long term matched 

placement 146 137 138 127 Fair

3.12
Number of placement moves in the quarter

89 (77 

individuals)

75 (66 

individuals)

88 (73 

individuals)

72 (60 

individuals) Fair

3.13

% of currently cared for children who have had a C&F 

assessment in the last 12 mths 85% 78% 72% 75% Fair
C&F - Children and Family

3.14

% of  Cared for Children in care for more that 1 mth who 

have had a review in the last 6 mths 97% 94% 90% 90% Fair

3.15

% of children ceased to be looked after due to granting 

of special guardianship order (SGO) - year to date figure
12% 11% 12% 12% 8% 13% 12% Fair

SGO - Special 

Guardianship Order

3.16

% of children ceased to be looked after due to adoption - 

year to date figure 9% 8% 8% 9% 11% 10% 11% Fair

3.17 Number of children with an adoption decision 35 38 37 36 Fair

3.18

Average number of days between entering care and 

moving in with adoptive family (A10 national indicator) - 

yearly figure 603 484 498 519 376 Fair

3.19

Average number of days between placement order and 

match with adoptive family  (A2 national indicator) - 

yearly figure 197 126 133 167 185 Fair

4.1

Children looked after who had their annual health 

assessment (%)

91% (OC2 

cohort) 87% 86% 91% 83%

89% (OC2 

cohort)

86% (OC2 

cohort) Fair

4.2

Children looked after who had their teeth checked by a 

dentist in the last 12 months (%)

87% (OC2 

cohort) 62% 53% 87% 82%

70% (OC2 

cohort)

65% (OC2 

cohort) Fair

P
ri

o
ri

ty
 3

 -
 W

e 
w

ill
 w

o
rk

 t
o

 g
iv

e 
al

l c
h

ild
re

n
 a

n
d

 y
o

u
n

g 
p

eo
p

le
 a

 f
o

re
ve

r 
h

o
m

e 
an

d
 k

ee
p

 t
h

em
 s

af
e

OFFICIAL-SENSITIVE

# OFFICIAL

P
age 48



Priority Indicator Indicator name

23/24    

outturn Q2 23/24 Q3 23/24 Q4 23/24 Q1 24/25

24/25    

outturn

Benchmark 

National 

(most recent 

available)

Benchmark 

Stat N'bour 

(most recent 

available)

Corporate 

Plan Aim Acronym

G
en

er
al

4.3

% of 4-16 in care for 3 months or more with a 

completed SDQ score in the last 12 mths

63% (OC2 

cohort) 73% 56% 63% 58%

77% (OC2 

cohort)

75% (OC2 

cohort) Fair

SDQ - Strenghts and 

Difficulties Questionnaire.  

T

4.4

% of young people with a SDQ score of 20 or above 26% (OC2 

cohort) 29% 32% 26% 30%

37% (OC2 

cohort)

40% (OC2 

cohort) Fair

SDQ - Strenghts and 

Difficulties Questionnaire.  

4.5 Number of care leavers with a health passport 27/28 93% 23/23 100% 21/21 100% 34/34 100% Fair

5.1

% of care leavers aged 16-21 with an up to date pathway 

plan in the last 6 mths 73% 90% 89% 88% Fair

5.2

% of pathway plan reviews completed in timescales in 

the quarter 81% 85% 88% 92% Fair

5.3

% of pathway plan reviews completed in the quarter 

where Young persons view were not sent/ gained 11% 8% 5% 7% Fair

5.4

% of former relevant care leaver aged 18-21 that we are 

in touch with 98% 98% 98% 97% Fair

5.5

% of 16-17 years old currently cared for with a PA 

allocated 43% 100% 100% 100% Fair
PA - Personal Advisor

5.6

% of 17-18  former relevant care leavers in suitable 

accommodation

95% 86% 95% 95% 95%

90% at yp 

birthday

88% at yp 

birthday Fair

5.7

% of 19-21 former relevant care leavers in suitable 

accommodation 

96% 91% 95% 96% 92%

88% at yp 

birthday

88% at yp 

birthday Fair

5.8
Number current UASC being cared for 

38 64 60 38 38 Fair

UASC - Unaccompanied 

Asylum Seeker

5.9
Number current/ former UASC care leavers (aged 18-24)

86 91 104 114 Fair

UASC - Unaccompanied 

Asylum Seeker

5.10 Number of individuals in staying put arrangement 34 27 Fair

P
ri

o
ri

ty
 5

 -
 W

e 
w

ill
 p

re
p

ar
e 

yo
u

n
g 

p
eo

p
le

 f
o

r 
A

d
u

lt
h

o
o

d

OFFICIAL-SENSITIVE

# OFFICIAL

P
age 49



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of Previous Meeting
	5 Adoption Service Six Monthly Report
	6 Cared for Children and Care Leavers Committee Quarter 1 Scorecard 2024-25
	Q1 Scorecard 2024-25


